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Corporate governance statement
PepinNini Lithium Limited (the Company) and the board are committed to achieving and demonstrating the highest
standards of corporate governance. The board continues to review the framework and practices to ensure they
meet the interests of shareholders. The Company and its controlled entities together are referred to as the Group in
this statement.
The relationship between the board and senior management is critical to the Group’s long-term success. The
Directors are responsible to the shareholders for the performance of the Company in both the short and the longer
term and seek to balance sometimes competing objectives in the best interests of the Group as a whole. Their
focus is to enhance the interests of shareholders and other key stakeholders and to ensure the Group is properly
managed.
A description of the Company’s main corporate governance practices is set out in the Corporate Governance
Statement which is available on the company’s website at http://www.pepinnini.com.au/about-us/corporategovernance/. The corporate governance statement is current as at 30 June 2018 and has been approved by the
Board. All of these practices, unless otherwise stated, were in place for the entire year.
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Directors’ report
The Directors of PepinNini Lithium Limited (“PepinNini” or the “Company”) submit herewith the annual financial report of
the consolidated group consisting of PepinNini Lithium Limited and the entities it controlled (the Group) at the end of, or
during, the year ended 30 June 2018. In order to comply with the provisions of the Corporations Act 2001, the Directors’
report as follows:
Directors
The following persons were Directors of PepinNini Lithium Limited during the whole of the financial year and up to the
date of this report:



Rebecca Holland-Kennedy




Phil Clifford



Robert (Wei) Sun Non-Executive Director - resigned 7th May 2018.

Sarah Clifton-Brown

Principal activities
During the year the principal continuing activities of the Group consisted of exploration for



Lithium



Copper



Nickel



Gold

Dividends
No dividends have been paid for the year ended 30 June 2018 or 30 June 2017
No further dividends have been declared up to the date of this report
Review of operations
During the year the parent Company changed name from PepinNini Minerals Ltd to PepinNini Lithium Limited. This name
change reflected the change in focus for the Company to the Lithium Brine project in Argentina. Consequently operations
this year have been focussed on the Salta Lithium Brine project in Salta Province of north west Argentina. Tenure held
during the year has been tested and consolidated from seven to five designated projects and Lithium Carbonate
equivalent(LCE) JORC 2012 Resources have been stated for the Rincon and Pular Projects. Also during the year two
tenement transactions were completed with Lithium S(TSX-V:LSC) which resulted in PepinNini swapping tenure from the
Salinas Grandes Project to create the Incahuasi Project and a purchase option over tenure of the Pular project to give
the Company all tenure over this Salar in Argentina. All project areas are within the Lithium Triangle of South America so
have potential for lithium brine exploitation and the development and production of Lithium Carbonate.
The Musgrave Project in northwest South Australia is held by PepinNini subsidiary NiCul Minerals Ltd(NiCul) and this
corporate and operational separation is emphasised following the name change of the parent Company. For NiCul,
restatement of the farm-in joint venture with Rio Tinto Exploration for the Musgrave Project was completed and signed 9
November 2018 for a period of two years. The farm-in joint venture now covers four exploration licence application areas
collectively titled the Pink Slipper anomaly. During the year PepinNini have continued to focus on tenement application
grant for both the joint venture area and licence applications held 100% by PepinNini from the traditional owners Anangu
Pitjantjatjara Yankunytjatjara.
In keeping with the focus on the Lithium Brine project in Argentina and NiCul’s project in Australia, tenure not linked to
these projects has been relinquished or is under re-assessment as to prospectivity. This was the case for the west
Australian Mozart Project relinquished in February 2018. The Toondulya Bluff project in South Australia is under reassessment as to prospectivity.
As at 30 June 2018 the Group held a 100% interest in ten exploration licences(mina) and held one mina under an
exploration option, the total covering 23,796 hectares(ha) or 237.96 km2 prospective for Lithium Brine resources. The
Company also held four granted mina covering 6,840 ha (68.40 km2) prospective for Copper in Argentina. In Australia
NiCul is earning an interest in 615 km2 in the South Australian portion of the Musgrave Province and held 100% of two
granted exploration licences of 3,525 km2 and 8 exploration licence applications over 10,478 km2. The Company also
hold 390 km2 in the Gawler Range, Eyre Peninsular, South Australia prospective for gold.
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1.

Argentina - Salta Project

The tenure held now covers 11 leases of 23,796 ha or 237.96km2 in total comprised of 10 granted mina held 100% by
PepinNini subsidiary PepinNini SA(PNN SA) and one mina held under an exploration option from Lithea(owned by LSC).
All tenure is held in Salta Province in north west Argentina which is recognised as one of the most mining-friendly
regions in Argentina where mining rights are well regulated by the Mining Secretariat and Mining Court. Mining leases
are granted in perpetuity conditional on the maintenance of the conditions of grant. The projects are all at elevations of
over 3,000m on the Puna Plateau of the Andes and located within the Lithium Triangle of South America which contains
66% of the world’s reserves of Lithium Carbonate (LCE), 53% of the world’s high grade Lithium reserves and 49% of
global LCE production. In the area, a number of companies from Australia, Canada and the US are either exploring, in
development or in production for Lithium Brine conversion to Lithium Carbonate. The area is well served with
infrastructure of gas, rail, road and power.
Salta Lithium Brine Projects
During the year the Group has focussed on the Lithium Brine Project to test prospective ground on six projects as
tabulated below:
Table 1 – Exploration Activity Salta Lithium Project Argentina – 2017-2018
Project
Pocitos
Cauchari/Salinas Grandes
Rincon
Pular
Arizaro
Centenario
Totals

Geophysical VES Surveys
2
4
3
2
1
1
13

Boreholes drilled
2
1
2
4
9

metres drilled
539
317
210
1,350
2,416

Brine samples collected
36
21
103
160

Resource
Yes
Yes
-

Geophysical Vertical Electric Sounding (VES) surveys were carried out to test for the presence of sub-surface aquifers.
The VES survey method uses electrical stimulus and records response to determine subsurface layers of low resistivity
to electrical current. Low resistivity indicates high conductivity and this is interpreted as potential lithium brine bearing
aquifer layers due to the location within the lithium triangle of South America. Subsequently projects in which potential
lithium brine bearing aquifers were interpreted were tested by drilling. Following the completion of drilling, core samples
were collected from different depths for testing porosity of the main lithological units and brine samples were collected at
different depths using packers to isolate the aquifer horizon being tested, for chemistry characterisation in that part of the
basin.
A total of 9 boreholes were drilled for 2,416 metres and 160 brine samples were collected and analysed at certified
laboratories in Canada, Argentina and USA. JORC 2012 resources were stated for two projects, Pular and Rincon. The
resource estimates were prepared in accordance with The JORC Code 2012 and used best practice methods specific to
brine resources, including a reliance on core drilling and sampling methods that yield depth-specific chemistry and
effective (drainable) porosity measurements. The resource estimations were completed by independent competent
person Mr. Michael Rosko, M.Sc., C.P.G. of the international hydrogeology firm E.L. Montgomery & Associates (M&A).
Table 2 - Rincon Project Brine Resource Statement
Resource Brine Volume Avg. Li
Category
(m3)
(mg/L)

In situ Li
(tonnes)

Li2CO3Equivalent
(tonnes)LCE

Avg. K In situ K
KCl Equivalent (tonnes)
(mg/L) (tonnes)

Measured

2.7 x 107

252

7,000

36,000

6,040

161,000

307,000

Indicated

1.9 x 107

233

5,000

24,000

5,512

109,000

208,000

M+I

4.6 x 107

244

12,000

60,000

5,815

270,000

515,000

Inferred

3.7 x 106

288

1,000

6,000

7,001

26,000

49,000

No cutoff grade was applied; lowest grade brine observed was 197 mg/L
The reader is cautioned that mineral resources are not mineral reserves and do not have demonstrated economic viability.
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Table 3 - Pular Project Brine Resource Statement
Resource
Category

Brine Volume Avg. Li
Li2CO3Equivalent Avg. K
In situ Li (tonnes)
(m3)
(mg/L)
(tonnes)LCE
(mg/L)

In situ K
(tonnes)

KCl Equivalent (tonnes)

Measured

8.1 x 108

85

68,700

366,000

4,480 3,620,000

6,904,000

Inferred

2.7 x 108

77

21,200

113,000

4,280 1,178,000

2,246,000

No cut-off grade was applied.
The reader is cautioned that mineral resources are not mineral reserves and do not have demonstrated economic viability.

During the year the Company entered into negotiations with Canadian company Lithium S(TSX-V:LSC) which resulted in
two transactions:



Transaction 1 – Exploration Purchase Option over mining lease in the Pular project of 1,346ha for a mandatory
payment of US$300,000 for 6 months of exploration and a further three staged optional payments totalling
US$755,000 for up to 12 months exploration at any time during which the Company may withdraw from the
agreement and avoid further payment.



Transaction 2 – Tenement direct swap with no funds to change hands in which five tenements held by the
Company were swapped for one tenement held by LSC. The tenements swapped were from the CauchariSalinas Grandes project tested by VES and drilling and the tenement gained was from Incahuasi Salar felt to
have significant potential.

The Group undertook engagement with the local inhabitants of the project areas during the reporting year and all drill
sites have been rehabilitated.
Salta Copper-Gold Projects
During the year four mining leases formerly considered prospective for Copper-Gold were re-evaluated and relinquished
as felt to have no potential for discovery. The Group now retain four mina prospective for Copper-Gold titled the Santa
Ines Project. The Company carried out exploration work in 2013-2014. During the reporting period no field work was
carried out. Exploratory drilling to test beneath the historic workings and the magnetic bodies modelled at depth during
the 2013-2014 exploration is being considered. The Group will continue to hold and maintain the tenements.
2.

Musgrave Province Nickel/Copper/Cobalt Project

During the period the Group has two designated projects across the Musgrave Province of South Australia where the
Company is developing targets to test for massive nickel-copper-cobalt sulphides for which the geology is felt to be
prospective:



Central Musgrave Project (SA)



Rio Tinto Joint Venture - Musgraves Project (SA)

The Central Musgrave project incorporates two granted exploration licences Mt Harcus EL5735 and Mt Caroline regranted in February as subsequent EL 6148 and eight exploration licence applications (ELA118/96, ELA185/96,
ELA367/09, ELA368/09, ELA189/15, ELA190/15, ELA191/15 and ELA197/15) covering 14,003 km2. The licences and
applications are held 100% by PepinNini subsidiary NiCul.
The Farm-in and Joint Venture Agreement (The Woodroffe Joint Venture Project) which expired in January 2016 has
been restated and amended to the Farm-in Joint Venture Agreement Musgraves with Rio Tinto Ltd subsidiary Rio Tinto
Exploration Pty Limited(RIO). To complete the restated farm-in agreement and establish a joint venture which is NiCul
51% and RIO 49%, NiCul must spend $1.4m over two years and achieve the grant of an exploration licence application.
The restated agreement focuses on four exploration licence applications which were formerly two areas and which cover
the same 614 km2 area. The redesign of the application blocks was initiated to accommodate negotiation of the priority
area with the indigenous land custodians by avoiding landforms and areas believed to contain heritage values that have
prevented outcomes of all previous access discussions since the1990s and felt to be more culturally sensitive to the
traditional owners. The agreement was signed 9 November 2018 and SA Government Ministerial approval was given 14
February 2018. Since that time NiCul have focussed on engagement with the Anangu Pitjantjatjara Yankunytjatjara
traditional owners for the granting of the exploration licence applications.
NiCul were able to collaborate in 2016-2017 as part of the Company’s Research and Development (R&D) collaboration
with CSIRO to trial innovative and previously untried geophysical techniques for mapping of water resources and mineral
system environments under cover in the Musgrave Province and incorporate data collection at greater density over
tenure held by the Company as part of an airborne electromagnetic (AEM) survey flown by CSIRO, South Australian
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Department of State Development and Geoscience Australia. The collaboration yielded a number of priority targets on Mt
Caroline EL 6148, Ironwood Bore ELA118/96 and Anerinna Hills ELA197/15. During the year interpretation has been ongoing over all tenure held by NiCul in conjunction with CSIRO.
3.

Toondulya Bluff - Gold Project - Gawler Ranges, South Australia

In 2016 the Group acquired an exploration licence application (ELA 2016/0092) through the exploration release area
(ERA) competitive tender process of the South Australian Department of State Development (SA DSD). The ELA covers
a 390km2 area on the south western flank of the Gawler Range Volcanic Province located approximately 100km north
east of Streaky Bay on the western coast of the Eyre Peninsula, South Australia. The tenement lies on the southern end
of the Yalbrinda Shear Zone which hosts the Nuckulla Hill and Tunkillia gold deposits. Review of historic exploration
activities has identified a small number of untested gold and base metals targets within the tenement block and data
review and planning for exploration activities was carried out during the year. No field activities were carried out in the
reporting year.
4.

Project Generation

Project Generation throughout the year has focussed on the Lithium Brine Project in Salta Province, Argentina where
prospective tenure has been sought and acquired.
Further information relating to the Group’s projects and future directions have been made publicly available on the
Company’s website at www.pepinnini.com.au
Changes in state of affairs
There was no significant change in the state of affairs of the Group during the financial year, other than what has been
reported in other parts of this report.
Matters subsequent to the end of the financial year
There has been no other matter or circumstance that has arisen since 30 June 2018 that has significantly affected, or
may significantly affect:


the Group’s operations in future financial years, or



the results of those operations in future financial years, or



the Group’s state of affairs in future financial years.

Likely developments in future financial years and expected results of operations
The Group intends to continue actively exploring and developing its tenements in the Salta Province, Argentina Project
for lithium brine. During the coming year the Company will aim for resource declarations on leases currently without and
the project area of best potential will be focussed on with a scoping study for potential lithium brine production.
Environmental regulations
The mining tenure granted to the Group pursuant to the various Mining Acts is granted subject to conditions which
include standard environmental requirements. The Group adheres to these conditions and the Directors are not aware of
any contraventions of these regulations.
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Information on Directors
The particulars of the Directors of the Company during or since the end of the financial year are:
Name

Particulars

Rebecca Holland-Kennedy

Qualifications: BSc(Geology), MAusIMM, BArts(Humanities), GAICD

Executive Director Managing Director

Experience: Rebecca Holland-Kennedy was a founding Director of PepinNini
Lithium Limited and has been a board member since 2002. She also held the
position of Company Secretary from 2002 to 6 May 2013. She has more than 30
years’ experience in exploration company administration and data management.
She has held positions with Robertson Research, Macquarie University, NSW
Department of Mines and Energy as well as acting as exploration and data
management consultant to AGL, Amax, BHP, AGIP, Shell, CRA, Caltex and
Meekatharrra Mineral Limited. She is a Director of NiCul Minerals Ltd, PepinNini
Robinson Range Pty Ltd, PepinNini QLD Pty Ltd, PepinNini Lithium International
Pty Ltd and PepinNini Resources Curnamona Pty Ltd.

Sarah Clifton-Brown

Qualifications: BArts(Hon) Accountancy, FCCA, GAICD

Executive Director –
Finance Director

Experience: Ms Clifton-Brown was appointed a Director of the Company on 11
December 2014. She is a Fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants, a graduate member of the Australian Institute of Company Directors
and has worked with the Company since May 2013. With over 12 years’
experience in Australia and the United Kingdom, she brings to PepinNini Lithium
Limited considerable knowledge and expertise in financial reporting, compliance
and company management. She is a Director of PepinNini Resources
Curnamona Pty Ltd, PepinNini Lithium International Pty Ltd and NiCul Minerals
Ltd.

Phil Clifford

Qualifications: BSc(Geology), MAusImm

Non-Executive Director
(Changed from Executive
to Non-Executive Director
on 1 October 2017)

Experience: Phil Clifford was appointed a Director of the company on 9 April 2013.
Phil Clifford has been Exploration Manager for PepinNini Lithium Limited since
2004 in charge of the South Australian Musgrave and Curnamona Projects and
the Company’s West Australian iron ore joint venture project at Robinson Range.
Before joining PepinNini Lithium Limited he was a project geologist and team
leader with CRA Exploration and Rio Tinto Exploration for 15 years in projects
exploring for magmatic nickel sulphide, PGE's, gold, diamonds, base metals,
uranium and coal. He is a Director of NiCul Minerals Ltd, PepinNini QLD Pty Ltd
and PepinNini Robinson Range Pty Ltd.

Robert (Wei) Sun

Qualifications : M.Ecom(Commerce), M.Econ(IEM)

Non-Executive Director

Experience: Robert (Wei) Sun was appointed a DirectorDirector of the company
on 1 December 2011 and resigned for personal reasons on 7 May 2018. Before
his resignation Robert was a Director of NiCul Minerals Ltd, PepinNini QLD Pty
Ltd and PepinNini Lithium International Pty Ltd. PepinNini wish to thank Robert for
the seven years of service to the company.
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Directorships of other listed companies
Directorships of other listed companies held by Directors in the 3 years immediately before the end of the financial year
are as follows:
Name
Phil Clifford
Rebecca Holland-Kennedy
Robert (Wei) Sun (resigned 7 May
2018)

Sarah Clifton-Brown

Company
Ferrowest Ltd

Period of Directorship
Oct 2012 to Dec 2015

Stock Exchange
ASX

Living Cities
Development Group Ltd
-

Jan 2016 to May 2017

ASX

-

-

Directors’ shareholdings
The following table sets out each Director’s relevant interest in shares, and rights or options in shares of the Group as at
the date of this report.
PepinNini Lithium Limited
Directors
Rebecca Holland-Kennedy
Phil Clifford
Sarah Clifton-Brown

Fully paid ordinary
shares (Number)
96,733,094
600,000
312,000

Share options
(Number)
1,500,000
1,500,000
1,900,000

Share options granted to Directors and senior management
During the financial year share options were granted to Directors as executive incentive options as part of their
remuneration package. Details are presented in the table below.

Issuing entity
PepinNini Lithium Limited

Number of
shares under
option
5,250,000

Exercise
price of
option
4cps

Class of
shares
Ordinary

Expiry date of
options
9 November 2020

Shares under option or issued on exercise of options
Details of unissued shares or interests under option as at the date of this report are:
Issuing entity
PepinNini Lithium Limited
PepinNini Lithium Limited
PepinNini Lithium Limited
PepinNini Lithium Limited
PepinNini Lithium Limited
PepinNini Lithium Limited
PepinNini Lithium Limited
PepinNini Lithium Limited
PepinNini Lithium Limited
PepinNini Lithium Limited
Total

Number of
shares under
option
200,000
200,000
100,000
100,000
100,000
5,250,000
1,050,000
300,000
300,000
4,800,000
12,400,000

Class of
shares
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary

Exercise
price of
option
6cps
10cps
3cps
6cps
10cps
4cps
5cps
7cps
9cps
3.77cps

Expiry date of
options
9 November 2018
9 November 2019
31 January 2019
31 January 2020
31 January 2021
9 November 2020
16 March 2021
16 March 2022
16 March 2023
11 May 2021

The holders of these options do not have the right, by virtue of the option, to participate in any share issue or interest
issue of the Company or of any other body corporate or registered scheme.
There were 200,000 shares or interests issued during or since the end of the financial year as a result of exercise of an
option. These options were exercised for 2 cents per share. Remuneration of Directors and senior management
Information about the remuneration of Directors and senior management is set out in the remuneration report of this
Directors’ report, on pages 12 to 18.
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Company secretary
Justin Nelson was appointed Company Secretary 6 May 2013.
Qualifications and experience of Justin Nelson are detailed below.
Mr Nelson was formerly ASX’s State Manager, SA and Manager, Listings (Adelaide). He holds a Bachelor of Laws,
Bachelor of Arts (Jurisprudence), a Graduate Diploma of Applied Corporate Governance and is Special Counsel with
DMAW Lawyers.
Directors’ meetings
The following table sets out the number of Directors’ meetings (including meetings of committees of Directors) held
during the financial year and the number of meetings attended by each Director (while they were a Director or committee
member).
Board of Directors
Directors

Rebecca
HollandKennedy
Phil
Clifford
Robert
(Wei) Sun*
Sarah
CliftonBrown

Held

Board
Member

Attended

Corporate governance
committee
Held
Committee
Attended
Member

Audit committee
Held

Committee
Member

Remuneration Committee

Attended

Held

Committee
Member

Attended

12

12

12

-

-

-

2

-

2

-

-

-

12

12

12

-

-

-

2

-

-

-

-

-

12

11

11

-

-

-

2

2

2

-

-

-

12

12

12

-

-

-

2

2

2

-

-

-

* Robert (Wei) Sun was the independent chair of the Corporate Governance, Audit and Remuneration Committees.
Summary of Financial Position
2018
Total Current Assets
Total Non-Current Assets
Total Current Liabilities
Total Non-Current
Liabilities
Net Assets
Equity

2017

$723,105
$17,392,909
$634,475

$3,315,667
$13,930,989
$799,320

$390,826

-

$17,090,713
$17,090,713

$16,447,336
$16,447,336

The increase in Non-current assets is a result of exploration spend during the year.
The decrease in Current Assets is a result of reduced cash due to exploration spend during the year.
The decrease in Current Liabilities relates primarily to the decrease in Trade and Other Payables, resulting from ongoing
Exploration and Evaluation activities during the year.
The Non-Current liability is a convertible note.
Summary of Financial Performance
Revenue received of $34,585 in the year was interest income and the $25,949 other income was a result of selling a
vehicle.
Expenses incurred comprise salaries, operational expenditure, and impairment of assets, which do not meet the
definition of exploration and evaluation expenditure, and include such expenses as accounting and legal, taxes and
charges, office rental, and share registry and investor relations expenses. The increase in these expenses is due to an
impairment of E&E assets recognised in the year ended 30 June 2018, as well as bank charges, losses on foreign
currency receivables, airfares, and exploration administration costs in Argentina, expenses relating to share registry and
the grant of employee options during the year. There has been no significant change in salaries and Director’s fees for
the year ended 30 June 2018.
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Remuneration report – audited
This remuneration report sets out remuneration information for PepinNini Lithium Limited’s Directors and other key
management personnel of the Group.
Role of Remuneration committee
The Remuneration committee is a committee of the board. It is primarily responsible for making recommendations to the
board on:



non-executive Director fees



executive remuneration (Directors and other executives) and



the overarching executive remuneration framework and incentive plan.

Their objective is to ensure that remuneration policies and structures are fair and competitive and aligned with the longterm interests of the Company. In doing this, the Remuneration Committee seeks advice as required from independent
remuneration consultants.
The corporate governance statement provides further information on the role of this committee.
The remuneration report is set out under the following main headings:
(A) Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration
(B) Executive remuneration policy and framework
(C) Use of remuneration consultants
(D) Voting and comments made at the company’s 2017 Annual General Meeting
(E) Performance of PepinNini Lithium Limited
(F) Details of remuneration
(G) Service agreements
(H) Share based compensation
(I)

Shareholdings of Directors and other key management personnel

The information provided in this remuneration report has been audited as required by section 308(3C) of the
Corporations Act 2001.
(A)

Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration

The objective of the Group’s executive reward framework is to ensure reward for performance is competitive and
appropriate for the results delivered. The framework aligns executive reward with achievement of strategic objectives and
the creation of value for shareholders, and conforms with market practice for delivery of reward. The board ensures that
executive reward satisfies the following key criteria for good reward governance practices;



Competiveness and reasonableness



Acceptability to shareholders



Performance linkage/alignment of executive compensation



Transparency



Capital management

The framework provides a mix of fixed and variable pay, and a blend of short and long-term incentives.
The board has established a remuneration committee which provides advice on remuneration and incentive policies and
specific recommendations on remuneration packages and other terms of employment for executive Directors, other
senior executives and non-executive Directors. The Corporate Governance Statement provides further information on the
role of this committee.

PepinNini Lithium Limited
Directors’ report
30 June 2018

Remuneration report (continued)
Non-executive Directors
Fees and payments to non-executive Directors reflect the demands which are made on, and the responsibilities of, the
Directors. Non-executive Directors’ fees and payments are reviewed annually by the Board and non-executive Directors
are remunerated for their services as Directors by a fixed sum and not a commission on a percentage of profits or
operating revenue. It may not be increased except at a general meeting in which particulars of the proposed increase
have been provided in the notice convening the meeting to Shareholders. 2,250,000 share options were awarded to
non-executive Directors during 2018 (2017: nil). Directors are also entitled to reasonable travel, accommodation and
other expenses incurred in attending Company or Board meetings, or meetings of any Committee engaged in the
Group’s business.
(A)

Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration (continued)

Directors’ fees
The Company’s constitution states that Directors are to be paid out of Company funds as remuneration for their services.
At the Annual General Meeting of the company in 2004, it was resolved to fix the annual aggregate amount of fees
payable to its Directors for Director’s duties at $125,000.
Directors’ retirement benefits
Any Director may be paid a retirement benefit as determined by the Board, consistent with the Corporations Act and the
Listing Rules.
Directors’ Voting Obligations
A Director is disallowed from voting on any contract or arrangement in which he or she has directly or indirectly any
material interest, if it will be contrary to the Corporations Act. If such a Director does vote, his or her vote will be not be
counted, nor will his or her attendance be counted in the quorum present at the meeting. Either or both of these
prohibitions may be relaxed or suspended to any extent by ordinary resolution passed at a General Meeting if permitted
by the Corporations Act.
(B)

Executive remuneration policy and framework

In determining executive remuneration, the board aims to ensure that remuneration practices are:



Competitive and reasonable, enabling the Company to attract and retain key talent



Aligned to the Company’s strategic and business objectives and the creation of shareholder value




Transparent, and
Acceptable to shareholders.

The executive remuneration framework has three components:



Base pay and benefits, including superannuation,



Short-term performance incentives, and



Long-term incentives through participation in the PepinNini Employee Option Plan

Executive remuneration mix
In accordance with the Company’s objective to ensure that executive remuneration is aligned to Company performance,
a percentage (5%) of the employee’s base pay is available as bonus based on achieving both personal and Company
key performance indicators. These indicators are decided upon at the beginning of the financial year and assessed at the
end of the financial year. The Company indicator is a share price target and the executive indicators relate to leadership,
teamwork, competency and proficiency.
Base pay and benefits
Executives receive their base pay and benefits structured as a total employment cost (TEC) package which may be
delivered as a combination of cash and prescribed non-financial benefits at the executives’ discretion.
Executives are offered a competitive base pay that comprises the fixed component of pay and rewards. Base pay for
executives is reviewed annually to ensure the executive’s pay is competitive with the market. An executive’s pay is also
reviewed on promotion.
There are no guaranteed pay increases included in any executives’ contracts.
Executives do not receive any benefits.
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Remuneration report (continued)
(B)

Executive remuneration policy and framework (continued)

Superannuation
Employees receive Superannuation Guarantee payments based on the statutory percentage of base salary. No other
retirement benefits are provided directly by the Group unless approved by shareholders.
Short-term incentives
Executives have the opportunity to earn an annual short term incentive (STI) if predefined targets are achieved. The
executive team have an STI opportunity of 5% of TEC. The Company target is share price for the Company and is
reviewed annually. The executive targets relate to leadership, teamwork, competency and proficiency.
The remuneration committee is responsible for assessing whether KPIs are met. The committee has the discretion to
adjust short-term incentives downwards in light of unexpected or unintended circumstances.
Long-term incentives
Long-term incentives are provided to certain employees via the PepinNini Lithium Limited Employee Share Option Plan
which was approved by shareholders at the 2011 Annual General Meeting.
The PepinNini Lithium Limited Employee Share Option Plan is designed to provide long-term incentives for executives to
deliver long-term shareholder returns. Under the plan, participants are granted options which only vest if the employees
are still employed by the Company at the end of the vesting period. Participation in the plan is at the board’s discretion
and no individual has a contractual right to participate in the plan or to receive any guaranteed benefits.
The vesting conditions are determined by the board as a long term employment performance incentive specific to the
employee and executive. Once vested, the options are exercisable at points over a period of years determined by the
board. Options are granted under the plan for no consideration.
Share trading policy
The trading of shares issued to participants under any of the Company’s employee equity plans is subject to, and
conditional upon, compliance with the Company’s employee share trading policy. The policy was issued to the ASX and
all shareholders on 29 December 2010.
(C)

Use of remuneration consultants

No remuneration consultants have been used to review existing remuneration policies.
(D)

Voting and comments made at the company’s 2017 Annual General Meeting

PepinNini Lithium Limited received 89% of “yes” votes on its remuneration report for the 2017 financial year. The
Company did not receive any specific feedback at the Annual General Meeting of shareholders of the Company or
throughout the year on its remuneration practices.
(E)

Performance of PepinNini Lithium Limited

The tables below set out summary information about the Group’s earnings and movements in shareholder wealth for the
five years to June 2018:
30 June 2018

30 June 2017

30 June 2016

30 June 2015

30 June 2014

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

35

17

57

225

805

Net (loss) / profit before
tax

(1,313)

(859)

(2,479)

(6,044)

(3,634)

Net (loss) / profit after tax

(1,329)

(954)

(2,502)

(6,045)

(3,641)

Attributable to members of
PepinNini Lithium Limited

(1,329)

(954)

(2,502)

(6,045)

(3,641)

30 June 2018

30 June 2017

30 June 2016

30 June 2015

30 June 2014

Share price at start of
year

$0.016

$0.031

$0.017

$0.012

$0.02

Share price at end of year

$0.019

$0.016

$0.031

$0.017

$0.012

Interim dividend

-

-

-

-

-

Final dividend

-

-

-

-

-

Revenue
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30 June 2018

30 June 2017

30 June 2016

30 June 2015

30 June 2014

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

Basic (loss) / earnings per
share

(0.3) cps

(0.3) cps

(1.1) cps

(3.5) cps

(2.9) cps

Diluted (loss) / earnings
per share

(0.3) cps

(0.3) cps

(1.1) cps

(3.5) cps

(2.9) cps

0.00%

0.00%

0.00%

0.00%

0.00%

Short term incentive (% of
maximum)

The Performance Incentive Program for the 2017/18 year was based on the achievement of Corporate Objectives as well
as Individual Objectives. The Corporate objectives include QHSE (quality, health, safety and environmental) targets. The
performance measures do not take into account the performance of the Company over more than the current year. The
payment of the short term incentive is at the discretion of the Board. The short-term incentive (Cash Bonus) as a
percentage of the maximum available and the earnings per share for the current year and the previous four years are set
out in the table above.

Remuneration report (continued)
(F)

Details of remuneration

Amounts of remuneration
Details of the remuneration of the Directors, the key management personnel of the Group (as defined in AASB 124
Related Party Disclosures) and specified executives of PepinNini Lithium Limited and the PepinNini Lithium Limited
Group are set out in the following tables. The key management personnel of the Group are the Directors of PepinNini
Lithium Limited (see page 10 above).
Key management personnel of the Group

Name

2018 Short-term employee benefits
Cash
Non
Cash
salary and
monetary Other
bonus
fees
benefits
$
$
$
$

Executive Directors
Rebecca Holland-Kennedy
181,096
– Managing Director
Sarah Clifton-Brown –
102,200
Finance Director
Non-Executive Directors
Robert (Wei) Sun (Resigned
19,456
7 May 2018)
51,950
Phil Clifford
Total Key Management
Personnel Compensation 354,702
(Group)

EquityPost
Longsettled
employment
term
Termination Share-based
benefit
benefits
benefits
payments
Long
SuperTermination
service
Options
annuation
benefits
leave
$
$
$
$

Total
Total
$

17,005

45,224

243,325

9,682

45,224

157,106

1,848

22,612

43,916

21,0251

4,935

28,8531

45,224

151,987

21,025

33,470

28,853

158,284

596,334

1

As Non-Executive Directors do not receive any benefits; Phil Clifford’s annual leave and long service leave were paid out when he
changed to a Non-Executive Director on 1 October 2017.

Name
Executive Directors
Rebecca Holland-Kennedy
Sarah Clifton-Brown
Phil Clifford
Non-Executive Directors
Robert (Wei) Sun
Total Key Management
Personnel Compensation
(Group)

2017 Short-term employee benefits
Cash
Non
Cash
salary and
monetary Other
bonus
fees
benefits
$
$
$
$

Post
Longemployment term
benefit
benefits
Superannuation
$

Long
service
leave
$

EquityTermination
settled
benefits Share-based
payments
Termination
benefits
$

Options
$

Total

Total
$

178,996
99,623
97,706

17,005
9,464
9,282

196,001
109,087
106,988

19,026

1,807

20,833

395,351

37,558

432,909

PepinNini Lithium Limited
Directors’ report
30 June 2018

Remuneration report (continued)

The relative proportions of remuneration paid/payable that are linked to performance and those that are fixed are as
follows:
Name

Fixed remuneration
2018
2017

Directors of PepinNini Lithium Limited
Rebecca Holland-Kennedy
Robert (Wei) Sun (Resigned 7th May 2018)
Phil Clifford (changed from Executive to
Non-Executive Director 1 Oct 2017)
Sarah Clifton-Brown

95%
100%

95%
100%

100%

100%

95%

95%

At risk - STI
2018
2017
5%

5%

5%

5%

At risk - LTI
2018
2017

No Director or member of senior management appointed during the period received any payments during the year other
than those detailed above.
(G)

Service agreements

Rebecca Holland-Kennedy (Executive Director - Managing Director) has a contract for service, details of which are
outlined as follows:



She is required to work five days a week;



Her current salary inclusive of superannuation is $200,000 per year;



Her contract commenced on 9 April 2013;



Termination may be made by either party on providing six months’ notice;



Termination benefits payable upon termination to Mrs Holland-Kennedy are six months’ pay.

Rebecca Holland-Kennedy has elected to reduce contracted salary, her salary under this arrangement is set at
$182,000 including superannuation.
Sarah Clifton-Brown (Executive Director – Finance Director) has a contract for service, details of which are outlined
as follows:

(H)



She is required to work three and a half days a week;



Her current salary inclusive of superannuation is $111,000 per year;



Her contract commenced on 11 December 2014;



Termination may be made by either party on providing three months’ notice;



Termination benefits payable upon termination to Mrs Clifton-Brown are three months’ pay.

Share based compensation

Options
An employee share option scheme has been established whereby PepinNini Lithium Limited may, at the discretion of
management, grant options over the ordinary shares of PepinNini Lithium Limited to Directors and executives as part
of a remuneration package offered for employment. The options so issued are for nil consideration and have variable
exercise prices and expiry dates, i.e. last date to exercise the options.
The terms and conditions of each grant of options affecting remuneration in the previous, this or future reporting
periods are as follows:
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Remuneration report (continued)

Grant date

Date vested and
exercisable

Expiry date

Exercise
price

Value per
option at grant
date

Number of
Options

(1) 10 November 2014

10 November 2014

09 November
2017

$0.03

$0.0068

200,000

(2) 10 November 2014

10 November 2015

09 November
2018

$0.06

$0.0054

200,000

(3) 10 November 2014

10 November 2016

09 November
2019

$0.10

$0.0050

200,000

(4) 10 November 2017

10 November 2017

09 November
2020

$0.04

$0.0301

1,500,000

(5) 10 November 2017

10 November 2017

09 November
2020

$0.04

$0.0301

1,500,000

(6) 10 November 2017

10 November 2017

09 November
2020

$0.04

$0.0301

1,500,000

(7) 10 November 2017

10 November 2017

09 November
2020

$0.04

$0.0301

750,000

Options granted under the plan carry no dividend or voting rights.
Each option is convertible into one ordinary share on exercise. Options may be exercised at any time from the
date of vesting to the date of their expiry.
Details of options over ordinary shares in the Group provided as remuneration to each Director of PepinNini Lithium
Limited and each of the key management personnel of the Group are set out below. Further information on the options
is set out in note 14 to the financial statements.
Options numbered (2) - (3) in the table above are entitled to beneficial interest at vesting date only if the recipients
continue to be employed by the Company at that date. Employee options numbered (1) expired 9 November 2017,
Options numbered (4)-(7) have no requirement for the Director to remain employed and continue until Expiry.
Holders of the options granted are as follows, options (1)-(4) Sarah Clifton-Brown, (5) Rebecca Holland-Kennedy, (6)
Philip Clifford, (7) Robert Wei Sun. (4)-(7) were granted during the year and have the following expensed values (4)
$45,150, (5) $45,150, (6) $45,150 and (7) $22,575, these options were awarded for past service and approved by the
shareholders at the AGM, they have no performance conditions.
The weighted average fair value of options granted during the year was $0.03 (2017: $0). These values were calculated
using the Black-Scholes option pricing model.
Dividend yield and weighted average share price have also been used as inputs into the Black Sholes Valuation model in
order to determine the fair value of share options granted.
2018
Name

Balance at Granted as Exercised Other
start of the compensatio (number) changes
year
n (number)
(number)
(number)

Balance Vested and Unvested
at end of exercisable (number)
the year (number)
(number)

Directors of PepinNini Lithium Limited
Options
Rebecca Holland-Kennedy

-

1,500,000

Robert (Wei) Sun (resigned 7th
May 2018)

-

750,000

Phil Clifford

-

1,500,000

1,500,000 1,500,000

600,000

1,500,000

(200,000) 1,900,000 1,900,000

Sarah Clifton-Brown

1,500,000 1,500,000
750,000

750,000

Other key management personnel of the Group

5,250,000 options were granted to Directors of PepinNini Lithium Limited during the year ended 30 June 2018 (2017: 0).
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There were 4,900,000 unissued ordinary shares held by Directors of PepinNini lithium Limited and other key
management personnel of the group under option at the date of this report.
No option holder has any right under the options to participate in any other share issue of the Group.
No ordinary shares in the Company were issued as a result of the exercise of remuneration options by Directors of
PepinNini Lithium Limited and other key management personnel of the Group for either the 30 June 2018 or 30 June
2017 financial year.
(I)

Shareholdings of Directors and other key management personnel

The number of shares in the company held during the financial year by each Director of PepinNini Lithium Limited
and other key management personnel of the Group, including their personally related parties, are set out below.
There were no shares granted during the reporting period as compensation.

2018
Name

Balance at the
start of the
year

Received
during the
year on the
exercise of
options

#

#

Other
changes
during the Balance at the
year
end of the year
#

#

Directors of PepinNini Lithium Limited
Ordinary shares
93,986,475

-

93,986,475

Robert (Wei) Sun

174,139

-

174,139

Phil Clifford

600,000

-

600,000

Sarah Clifton-Brown

312,000

-

312,000

Rebecca Holland Kennedy

Other key management personnel of the Group
Ordinary shares
None

End of Audited Remuneration Report
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Indemnification of officers and auditors
PepinNini Lithium Limited has entered into standard deeds of indemnity and access with each of the Directors. By these
deeds, the Company has undertaken, consistent with the Corporations Act 2001, to indemnify each Director in certain
circumstances and to maintain Directors’ and officers’ insurance cover in favour of the Director for seven years after the
Director has ceased to be a Director. The Company has paid a premium for the period 13 October 2017 to 13 October
2018 to insure the Directors and officers of the Company. In accordance with the terms and conditions of the insurance
policy, the amount of the premium paid has not been disclosed on the basis of confidentiality, which is permitted under
section 300(9) of the Corporations Act 2001.
No indemnity was given in respect of the auditor, and no insurance premium was paid for such an indemnification.
Proceedings on behalf of the Company
There are no proceedings on behalf of the Company at the date of this report.
No person has applied to the Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to bring proceedings on
behalf of the Company, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the Company is a party, for the purpose of taking
responsibility on behalf of the company for all or part of those proceedings.
No proceedings have been brought or intervened in on behalf of the Company with leave of the Court under section 237
of the Corporations Act 2001.
Non-assurance services
BDO Audit (SA) Pty Ltd did not provide any non-assurance services during the year ended 30 June 2018.
Details of amounts paid or payable to the auditor BDO Audit (SA) Pty Ltd for assurance services provided during the year
by the auditor are outlined in note 22 to the financial statements.
Auditor
BDO Audit (SA) Pty Ltd were appointed auditor on 15th January 2016.
Auditor’s independence declaration
The auditor’s independence declaration is included on page 18 of the annual financial report.
Resolution of Directors
This Directors’ report is signed in accordance with a resolution of Directors made pursuant to s.298(2) of the
Corporations Act 2001.
On behalf of the Directors

Rebecca Holland Kennedy
Managing Director
Adelaide,
13 September 2018
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Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
for the financial year ended 30 June 2018
Consolidated
2018
$

Note

2017
$

Revenue from Continuing Operations

7

25,949

16,720

Other Income

7

8,636

31,814

Depreciation expense

6

(3,185)

(8,459)

Salary & employment costs

8

(522,439)

(368,726)

(266,860)

(294,008)

Expenses

Operating expenses
Operating lease rental expense
Share Registry

(16,842)
(99,735)

(23,180)
(57,805)

Airfares

(68,670)

(13,383)

Professional fees

(68,000)

(67,433)

(111,709)

(5,479)

Insurance

(36,546)

(18,737)

Bank Charges and State Taxes

(64,505)

(17,229)

(7,709)

(33,054)

(81,058)

-

(1,347,258)

(907,493)

(1,312,673)

(858,959)

(16,477)

(95,162)

(1,329,149)

(954,121)

Administration expenses

Legal fees
Impairment of exploration asset
Total expenses
Loss before tax
Income tax benefit/(expense)

10

Loss for the year
Other comprehensive income
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss

-

Total comprehensive Loss for the year
Attributable to:
Members of PepinNini Lithium Limited

-

(1,329,149)

(954,121)

(1,329,149)
(1,329,149)

(954,121)
(954,121)

Earnings per share for loss attributable to
the ordinary equity holders of the
company:
Basic loss (cents per share)

12

(0.3)

(0.3)

Diluted loss (cents per share)

12

(0.3)

(0.3)

The above consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income should be read in conjunction
with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated statement of financial position
as at 30 June 2018
Consolidated

Note

2018
$

2017
$

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents

3

352,079

3,011,200

Trade and other receivables

9

355,697

288,403

15,329
723,105

16,064
3,315,667

17,382,328

13,920,017

3,990

3,990

Total non-current assets

6,591
17,392,909

6,982
13,930,989

Total assets

18,116,014

17,246,656

Trade and other payables

472,651

581,752

Annual and long service leave
Total current liabilities

161,824
634,475

217,568
799,320

390,826

-

1,025,301

799,320

17,090,713

16,447,336

Prepayments
Total current assets
Non-current assets
Exploration and evaluation expenditure

4

Exploration bonds
Property, plant and equipment

6

Current liabilities

Non-Current liabilities
Convertible Notes

13

Total liabilities
Net assets
Equity
Issued capital

11

28,174,241

26,695,248

Reserves

11

897,683

404,150

Retained earnings

11

(11,981,211)

(10,652,062)

17,090,713

16,447,336

Total Equity attributable to equity holders of the
Company

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the financial year ended 30 June 2018
Issued Capital
Note 11(a)

Consolidated
Balance at 1
July 2016

Fully paid
ordinary
shares
$
21,724,640

Fully
paid
options
$
553,623

Loss for the
year
Other
comprehensive
income
Total
comprehensive
(loss)/income
Issue of shares,
net of
transactions
costs and tax
(note 11(a))
Employee share
options
Balance at 30
June 2017
Balance at 1
July 2017

Retained
Earnings
Note 11(b)

Reserves
Note 11(b)
Prepaid
share
reserve
$

Equity
settled
employee
benefits
reserve
$

52,035

405,184

Total
attributable to
equity holders
of the
Company
$

(9,697,941)

13,037,541

(954,121)

(954,121)

(954,121)

(954,121)

-

4,416,985

(52,035)

4,364,950

(1,034)

(1,034)

26,141,625

553,623

404,150

(10,652,062)

16,447,336

26,141,625

553,623

404,150

(10,652,062)

16,447,336

Loss for the
year
Other
comprehensive
income
Total
comprehensive
(loss)/income
Issue of shares,
net of
transaction
costs and tax
(note 11(a))
Share options
Balance at 30
June 2018

Retained
earnings
$

-

-

1,478,993

-

-

(1,329,149)

(1,329,149)

(1,329,149)

(1,329,149)

303,239

1,782,232
190,294

27,620,618

553,623

303,239

594,444

190,294
(11,981,211)

17,090,713

The above consolidated statements of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes
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Consolidated statement of cash flows
for the financial year ended 30 June 2018
Note

2018
$

Consolidated
2017

Cash flows from operating activities
Payments to suppliers and employees (inclusive of GST)

(1,515,562)

(480,309)

2,129

(824)

(1,513,433)

(481,133)

25,949

16,720

Research & Development tax incentive received
Payments for exploration and evaluation activities
Payments for property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment

197,204
(3,580,659)
(3,627)
44,287

220,743
(1,554,394)
(1,958)
31,814

Net cash provided by/ (used in) investing activities

(3,316,846)

(1,287,075)

Proceeds from issues of equity securities

1,782,232

4,364,950

Proceeds from issue of convertible notes

390,826

-

2,173,058

4,364,950

(2,657,221)

2,596,742

3,011,200

415,466

1,900

(1,008)

352,079

3,011,200

Receipts in the course of business (inclusive of GST)
Net cash (used in) operating activities

3

Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received

Cash flows from financing activities

Net cash provided by financing activities

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents
at the beginning of the financial year
Net foreign exchange differences on foreign cash
balances
Cash and cash equivalents
at the end of the financial year

3

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
Structure of Notes and materiality
Note disclosures are split into five sections shown below to enable a better understanding of how the Group
performed.
General information
1.

General information

2.

Significant accounting policies

The business’ performance
3.

Cash

4.

Exploration and evaluation expenditure

5.

Business and geographical segments

6.

Property, plant and equipment

7.

Revenue and other income

8.

Compensation

9.

Trade and other receivables

10. Taxation
Capital
11. Equity
12. Earnings per share
13. Convertible Note
14. Share based payments
Structures
15. Parent entity information
16. Consolidation
17. Investment in subsidiaries
Unrecognised items and additional information
18. Financial risk management
19. Related party transactions
20. Commitments for expenditure
21. Subsequent events
22. Remuneration of auditors
Accounting policies and critical accounting judgements applied to the preparation of financial statements have been
moved to the relevant section.
Information is only being included in the Notes to the extent that it has been considered material and relevant to the
understanding of the financial statements.
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(continued)
Note 1 General information
This financial report covers the consolidated financial statements for the consolidated entity consisting of PepinNini
Lithium Limited (the “Company” or “Parent”) and its controlled entities (the “Group” or the “consolidated entity”).
The Company’s registered office and its principal place of business are as follows:
Registered office:
96 Babbage Road
ROSEVILLE CHASE NSW 2069
: +61 (0)2 9417 6212
: +61 (0)2 9417 3043
Email: admin@pepinnini.com.au
Exploration office SA:
22A Charlotte Street
SMITHFIELD SA 5114
: +61 (0)8 8254 2044
: +61 (0)8 8254 2033
Principal office:
Level 1, 6/68 North Terrace
KENT TOWN SA 5067
: +61 (0)8 8218 5000
: +61 (0)8 8212 5717
Email: admin@pepinnini.com.au
PepinNini Lithium Limited was incorporated in Australia and is domiciled in Australia.
A description of the nature of the consolidated entity’s operations and its principal activities is included in the review
of operations and activities in the Directors’ report, which is not part of this financial report.
The financial report was authorised for issue by the Directors on 13 September 2018. The Group has the power to
amend and reissue the financial report.
Note 2 Significant accounting policies
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial report are set out below. These policies
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.
(a)

Basis of preparation

The general purpose financial report has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and
Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board and the Corporations Act 2001. PepinNini
Lithium Limited is a for-profit entity for the purpose of preparing the financial statements.
(i)

Compliance with IFRS

The financial report complies with Australian Accounting Standards and International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.
(ii)

Historical cost convention

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention.
(iii)

Critical accounting estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies. Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events that may have a financial impact on the entity and that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances.
The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future, the results of which, by definition, seldom
equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed in the
respective notes:
(a)

Reserves and resources (note 4)

(b)

Deferred tax assets (note 10)
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Note 2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(iii)

Reclassification
When the presentation or classification of items in the financial report is amended, comparative amounts are
reclassified to ensure comparability.

(iv) Going concern
The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis which contemplates the continuity of
normal business activities and the realisation of assets and discharge of liabilities in the ordinary course of
business. This includes the realisation of capitalised exploration expenditure of $17,382,328 (30 June 2017:
$13,920,017).
The Group has incurred a loss after tax for the year of $1,329,147 (2017: $954,121) and operations were
funded by a net cash outflow of $1,513,433 (2017: $481,133).
The consolidated entity’s ability to continue as a going concern is contingent on raising additional capital
and/or the successful exploration and subsequent exploitation of its areas of interest through sale or
development. The matters set out above indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast
significant doubt about the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern and therefore the entity may be
unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.
The financial statements do not include any adjustments that may be necessary if the consolidated entity is
unable to continue as a going concern.
(b) Adoption of new and revised Accounting Standards
In the current year, the Group has adopted all of the new and revised Standards and Interpretations issued by
the Australian Accounting Standards Board (the AASB) that are relevant to its operations and effective for the
current annual reporting period. Details of the impact of the adoption of these new accounting standards are set
out in the individual accounting policy notes set out below. The adoption of these standards did not have any
impact on the current period or any prior period and is not likely to affect future periods.
(c) New accounting standards and interpretations
There are no standards that are not yet effective and that are expected to have a material impact on the entity in
the current or future reporting periods and on foreseeable future transactions.
(d) Goods and services tax
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred
is not recoverable from the taxation authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the
asset or as part of the expense.
Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of
GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included within other receivables or payables in the
statement of financial position.
Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or
financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority, are presented as operating
cash flows.
(e) Foreign currency translation
(i) Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is PepinNini Lithium Limited’s functional and presentation
currency.
(ii) Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates at the dates of
the transactions. Gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at
year end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in
the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, except when they are deferred in equity as
qualifying cash flow hedges and qualifying net investment hedges or are attributable to part of the net investment
in a foreign operation.
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Translation differences on financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value are reported as part of the fair value
gain or loss. Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets and liabilities such as equities held at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss. Translation
differences on non-monetary financial assets such as equities classified as available-for-sale financial assets are
included in the fair value reserve in equity.
(iii)

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group entities that have a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:



assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing rate
at the date of that statement of financial position;



income and expenses for each profit and loss item are translated at average exchange rates (unless this
is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at the dates of the transactions); and



all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of any net investment in foreign entities are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

The business performance
Note 3

Cash

Cash and cash equivalents at 30 June 2018 was $352,079 (2017: $3,011,200).
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other shortterm, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and bank overdrafts.
Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the consolidated statement of financial
position.
To manage exposure to credit risk, cash and cash equivalents must have a minimum credit rating of “A”.
The Group’s weighted average interest rate is between 0.50% - 1.85%31 (2017: 0.70% - 2.07%).
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(a) Reconciliation of loss after income tax to net cash outflow from operating activities, and non-cash
activities
Consolidated
2018

2017

$

$

(1,329,149)

(954,121)

3,185

8,459

(Gain)/loss on disposal of PPE

(8,636)

(31,814)

Impairment of exploration assets

81,058

-

190,294

(1,034)

1,900

1,008

(25,949)

(16,720)

16,477

95,162

(296,306)

(76,759)

(109,101)

508,621

(55,744)

(13,935)

(1,513,433)

(481,133)

Loss for the year before tax

Non-cash items
Depreciation expensed

Employee options expense
Movement in deferred tax asset
Foreign Exchange

Items not classified as operating
Interest income
Income tax expense

Changes in net assets and liabilities
(Increase) / decrease in assets:
Trade and other receivables
Increase / (decrease) in liabilities:
Trade and other payables
Provisions
Net cash outflow from operating
activities
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Note 4 Exploration and evaluation expenditure (E&E)

The Group capitalises and carries forward E&E incurred (e.g. payments for tenement acquisition and maintenance,
analytical, geological, geophysical, exploration related personnel, drilling and results analysis, and an allocation of
exploration overhead) where the rights of tenure of the area of interest are current and expenditures are expected to
be recouped through:
I.

successful development and commercial exploitation of the area of interest;

II.

or by its sale or exploration;

III.

or evaluation activities in the area of interest have not, at the reporting date, reached a stage which
permits an assessment of the existence or otherwise of economically recoverable reserves, and active
and significant operations in, or in relation to, the area of interest are continuing.

Exploration and evaluation assets are initially measured at cost, and have an indefinite life (the useful life ends at an
indeterminate time when future decisions are made to sell, transfer, develop and exploit, or discontinue the use of
these assets).
The Impairment expense during the year relates to four mining leases in Argentina formerly considered prospective
for Copper-Gold being re-evaluated and relinquished because they were considered to have no potential for
discovery, and the Western Australian Mozart Project, which was relinquished because it was a high cost exploration
target which funds in the company were being directed to higher priority exploration.
Government grants
Government grants include government assistance where there are no conditions specifically relating to the operating
activities of the Group other than the requirement to operate in certain regions or industry sectors. Grants are
recognised at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and the Group will
comply with all attached conditions.
Grants for exploration drilling activity within an exploration tenement which has not yet reached a stage which permits
reasonable assessment of the existence of economically recoverable reserves, is offset against costs capitalised and
where objective evidence of impairment exists, is written off along with the associated costs.
Note 19 details the statutory expenditure commitments for granted exploration tenements.
(a)

Critical accounting estimates and judgements: Impairment of E&E

The Group’s accounting policy requires management to make certain
assumptions as to future events and circumstances. Exploration costs are
carried forward based on the accounting policy set out above. Exploration and
evaluation assets are assessed for impairment when facts and circumstances
suggest that the carrying amount may exceed recoverable amount. Where
required, impairment is recorded as impairment of exploration asset in the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
The Group has recognised impairment losses in the year ended 30 June 2018
of $81,058 (2017: $0).
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Note 5 Business and geographical segments
The Group has applied AASB 8 Operating Segments from 1 July 2009. AASB 8 requires a ‘management
approach’ under which segment information is presented on the same basis as that used for internal
reporting purposes. The chief operating decision-makers have been identified as the board of Directors
consisting of executive and non-executive Directors.
The operating segments are identified by management based on the nature of the commodity to be sold.
Discrete financial information about operating businesses is reported to the executive management
(executive Directors) on at least a monthly basis. The Group operates in one segment, being mineral
exploration and development.
2018

2017

$

$

Australia

11,724,476

11,504,331

Argentina

5,668,433

2,426,658

17,392,909

13,930,989

Non-current operating assets

Total
Note 6 Property, plant and equipment

Total
$
Year ended 30 June 2017
Opening net book amount
Additions
Disposals
Depreciation charge
Closing net book amount
At 30 June 2017
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Net book amount

19,653
1,924
(14,595)
6,982
1,450,301
(1,443,319)
6,982

Year ended 30 June 2018
Opening net book amount
Additions
Disposals
Depreciation charge (a)
Closing net book amount
At 30 June 2018
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Net book amount

6,982
3,627
(4,018)
6,591
1,410,849
(1,404,258)
6,591

Plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less depreciation. Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income during the reporting period in which they are incurred.
Assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.
An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount. Additionally, if an asset’s written down value reduces below $500, it
is written off through the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. Gains and losses on disposals
are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount and included in profit or loss.
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Note 6 Property, plant and equipment(continued)
Depreciation expense
Depreciation on assets is calculated using the diminishing value method to allocate their cost or revalued amounts,
net of their residual values, over their estimated useful lives, as follows:



Plant & equipment – 4 to 3 years or 25% to 33%

Total depreciation expensed
Depreciation capitalised
Total depreciation

Consolidated
2018
2017
$
$
3,185
8,459
494
6,136
4,018
14,595

Note 7 Revenue and other income
The Group’s revenue for the year is as follows:

2018
$

Consolidated
2017
$

Interest revenue:
Bank deposits

25,949

16,720

Drilling services revenue

-

-

Other revenue

-

-

25,949

16,720

8,636

31,814

Other revenue:

Other income:
Gain on sale of assets

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, when the amount of
revenue can be reliably measured, it is probably that future economic benefits will flow to the entity, and
specific criteria have been met for each of the Group’s activities as described below. The amount of revenue
is not considered reliably measurable until all contingencies relating to the sale or the provision of services
have been resolved.
Interest income
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.
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Note 8 Compensation
(a)

Key management personnel compensation

The following persons were Directors of PepinNini Lithium Limited during the financial year:



Rebecca Holland-Kennedy – Managing Director




Robert (Wei) Sun – Director (resigned 7th May 2018)



Sarah Clifton-Brown - Director

Phil Clifford – Director

Other than the Directors, there are no employees directing and controlling the activities of the Group, directly
or indirectly, during the financial year that would be considered key management personnel.
Compensation for key management personnel during the year was:
Consolidated

Short-term employee benefits

2018

2017

$

$

375,727

395,351

Long-term benefits

28,853

-

Post-employment benefits

33,470

37,558

158,284

-

596,334

432,909

Share-based payments – equity settled

Detailed remuneration disclosures are provided in the remuneration report on pages 9 to 15.
(b) Total salary & employment costs
Salaries & wages
Employee options expense
Defined contribution superannuation expense
Salary Cost capitalised to Exploration and Evaluation
Asset

(i)

572,751
190,294
48,441

680,824
(1,034)
58,769

(289,047)

(329,833)

522,439

368,726

Wages and salaries, annual leave, long service and sick leave

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave, and accumulating sick
leave expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised when it is probable that
settlement will be required and they are capable of being measured reliably. Amounts recognised are in
respect of employees’ services up to the reporting date and are measured at the amounts expected to be
paid when the liabilities are settled. Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the
reporting date on corporate bonds with terms to maturity and currency that match, as closely as possible, the
estimated future cash outflows.
(ii)

Defined contribution plans

Contributions to defined contribution superannuation plans in respect of administrative employees are
expensed as they become payable. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a
cash refund or reduction in the future payments is available. Where an employee is involved in exploration
activities, the contributions form part of the exploration and evaluation expenditure capitalised for the period
during which the expenditure was occurred.
(iii)

Compensation qualifying as exploration and evaluation expenditure

The Group’s policy on the treatment of Exploration and Evaluation Expenditure is detailed at note 4. For
employees involved in exploration activities, the expenditure on employee compensation is capitalised as
part of the cost of an Exploration and Evaluation Asset when that expenditure meets the definition of
Exploration and Evaluation Expenditure.
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(iv)

Employee Share Option Scheme

PepinNini Lithium Ltd has an employee share option scheme as part of its overall compensation
arrangement with employees. Details of the scheme are shown at note 14 Share Based Payments.
Note 8 Trade and Other Receivables
Consolidated
2018
$

2017
$

Current
Trade receivables
GST/VAT receivable
Research & Development tax refund
Allowance for doubtful debts
Trade and other receivables

-

2,360

355,697
-

76,043
210,000
-

355,697

288,403

Assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
As at 30 June 2018, no trade receivables were past due or impaired (2017: nil). Due to the short-term
nature of these receivables, their carrying amount is assumed to approximate their fair value and reflects
the total contractual cash flows.
The trade and other receivables do not have an external credit rating.
(a)

Maturities of trade and other receivables

Of the total trade and other receivables balance, $374,243 matures in less than 6 months (2017:
$78,403).
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Note 10 Taxation
PepinNini Lithium Limited and its wholly-owned Australian controlled entities have implemented the tax
consolidation legislation. As a consequence, these entities are taxed as a single entity and the deferred tax
assets and liabilities of these entities are set off in the consolidated financial statements.
This note provides an analysis of the Group’s income tax expense, amounts recognised and deferred tax
assets and liabilities. The income tax expense of $16,477 for the year ended 30 June 2018 (2017: $95,162)
represents the tax relating to share issue costs.
Deferred income tax is determined using a tax rate applicable at the end of the reporting period and expected
to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.
Consolidated
2018

2017

$

$

(a) Income tax expense / (benefit)
Current tax (benefit) / expense
Deferred tax (benefit) / expense

16,477

95,162

16,477

95,162

(968,173)

61,815

951,696

33,347

16,477

95,162

(1,312,673)

(858,959)

(360,985)

(236,214)

52,331

(284)

325,131

331,660

16,477

95,162

16,477

95,162

Adjustment of tax of prior periods

Deferred income tax expense included in income tax expense
comprises:
Decrease (increase) in deferred tax assets
(Decrease) increase in deferred tax liabilities

(b) Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense to prima
facie tax payable
Loss from continuing operations before income tax expense
Tax at the Australian tax rate of 27.5% (2017- 27.5%)
Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible (taxable) in calculating
taxable income:
Employee stock compensation
R&D Non-assessable income
Deferred tax assets not recognised as not probable
Income tax (benefit) / expense
(c)

Amounts recognised directly in equity

Net deferred tax – credited directly to equity
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Note 10 Income tax expense (continued)
Consolidated

(d)

2018

2017

$

$

Tax losses

Unused tax losses for which no deferred tax asset has been recognised:
Revenue losses
Capital losses

13,178,826

11,668,559

5,840,532

5,840,532

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is
probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses. Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and
liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax
liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit
or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.
In this case, tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.
Consolidated
2018

2017

$

$

The net deferred tax asset comprises temporary differences attributable
to:
Deferred tax assets:
Fundraising costs

74,051

83,933

Provisions and accruals

44,502

59,831

8,713,187

6,895,824

(3,624,177)

(3,208,853)

5,207,563

3,830,734

(5,205,273)

(3,828,005)

(2,290)

(2,730)

(5,207,563)

(3,830,734)

-

-

Tax losses
Deferred tax assets not recognised for unused tax losses
Deferred tax assets:

Deferred tax liabilities
Exploration expenditure
Other

Total net deferred tax assets
(a)

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
Deferred tax assets are only recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses if it is
probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.
The carrying amount of net deferred taxes at 30 June 2018 is $0 (2017: $0).
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Capital
Note 11 Equity
(a) Share capital
Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and to share in the proceeds of winding up of
the Group in proportion to the number of and amounts paid on the shares held. Ordinary shares are
classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are
shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. Ordinary shares have no par value and the
company does not have a limited amount of authorised capital. All issued ordinary shares carry one vote
per share.
2018
No.
Fully paid ordinary shares and
fully paid options
Balance at beginning of financial
year
Issue of shares#
Share issue costs
Tax effect on issue costs
Options exercised
Balance at end of financial year

2017
$

No.

$

483,968,689

26,695,248

270,739,774

22,278,263

49,072,727

1,518,431
(59,914)
16,476
4,000
28,174,241

213,228,915

4,641,994
(320,171)
95,162
26,695,248

200,000
533,241,416

483,968,689

In January 2018 a private placement of 26,000,000 shares was offered to sophisticated investors at an issue
price of 5.8c to raise $1,508,000 before costs.
In April 2018 200,000 employee options were exercised, $4000 was raised from the transaction.
In February 2018 the company entered into a Controlled Placement Agreement (CPA) with Acuity, the CPA
provided PNN with $5 million of standby equity capital over a 23 month period, PNN has full control of whether
to use it and the agreement is currently not being utilised per agreement with Bergan whilst the Convertible
Note is in place. As collateral for the CPA Acuity capital currently holds 17 Million Collateral shares that PNN
can cancel and take back at any time.
In May 2018, the Company entered into a Convertible Note agreement with Bergan Global opportunity Fund.
Pursuant to the Agreement the Company issued 2,272,727 fully paid ordinary shares as a commencement fee
and a further 3,800,000 as collateral for nil consideration. Further details of the convertible Note are included in
note 13.
** Includes 553,623 fully paid expired options not exercised (2017:553,623)
(b) Reserves and retained earnings
(i)

Equity Settled Employee Benefits Reserve
The equity-settled employee benefits reserve is used to recognise the fair value at grant date of
share options granted to executives and senior employees. The fair value is then expensed over
the vesting period of the share options. Amounts are transferred out of the reserve and into issued
capital when the options are exercised.

(ii) Prepaid Share Reserve
The prepaid share reserve shows cash received for share placement where the shares are not
issued before the end of the reporting period.
(iii) Retained Earnings
Retained earnings is a category of reserves which shows the accumulated undistributed profits or
losses of the group since its inception.
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(c) Capital risk management
The Group considers its capital to comprise its ordinary share capital and accumulated losses as shown
in the Consolidated statement of changes in equity on pg 24. The Group's objectives when managing
capital is to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern. To ensure this the group may adjust
dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce
debt.
There were no changes to the Group’s approach to capital management during the year; the group
monitor capital to ensure the company has appropriate cash and cash equivalents to meet needs. The
Group is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements.
Note 12 Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing:
i)

the profit attributable to equity holders of the company, excluding any costs of servicing equity other
than ordinary shares, and

ii)

the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for
bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the year.

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take
into account:
i)

the after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential
ordinary shares, and

ii)

the weighted average number of additional ordinary shares that would have been outstanding assuming
the conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.
Consolidated
2018
Cents

2017
Cents

Total basic loss per share attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the company

(0.3)

(0.3)

Total diluted loss per share attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the company

(0.3)

(0.3)

(1,329,149)

(954,121)

Loss attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the company used in calculating
basic earnings per share

Weighted average number of shares used as the denominator for both basic and diluted loss per share is
502,564,343 (2017: 350,024,697). A total of 12,400,000 options have not been included in the calculation of
diluted loss per share as they are anti-dilutive. 58,806,034 ordinary shares were issued after 30 June 2018 in
several rounds of capital raising, which would have changed significantly the number of ordinary shares
outstanding at the end of the period, had those transactions occurred before the end of the reporting period.
Note 13 Convertible Note
PepinNini Lithium Limited Secured an Investment agreement with Began Global Opportunity Fund for
investment up to $2 million in May 2018.
An upfront investment of $390,826 was made immediately and an additional $1,609,174 is available for draw
down during the 24 month agreement.
The $390,826 initial investment resulted in 426,000 convertible securities being issued to Bergen with a face
value of $1 each. Each security can be converted by the investor at either 90% of the average 5 day VWAP
or 140% of the 20 day VWAP up to execution of the agreement.
4,800,000 options were issued to Bergen as part of the transaction with an exercise price of 3.77c per option.
Note 14 Share-based payments
PepinNini Lithium Limited has an employee share option scheme. At the discretion of management options
are granted over the ordinary shares of PepinNini Lithium Limited to Directors and executives as part of a
remuneration package offered for employment. The options so issued are for nil consideration and have
variable exercise prices and maturity dates, i.e. last date to exercise the options. Employees must still be
employed or engaged by the company on the vesting date, else the option lapses this does not apply to
Directors where the option only lapses at the expiry date regardless of continued service
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Note 14 Share-based payments (continued)
Each employee share option converts into one ordinary share of PepinNini Lithium Limited on exercise. No
amounts are paid or payable by the recipient on receipt of the option. The options carry neither rights to
dividends nor voting rights. Options may be exercised at any time from the date of vesting to the date of their
expiry. The fair value of share-based compensation granted is recognised as an expense or asset as
appropriate, with a corresponding increase in equity. The fair value is measured at grant date and is
recognised over the period during which the employees or third party become unconditionally entitled to the
stock compensation.
The fair value at grant date is determined using market prices for shares and using a Black-Scholes option
pricing model for options. The fair value of the options granted is adjusted to reflect market vesting
conditions, but excludes the impact of any non-market vesting conditions (for example, profitability and sales
growth targets). Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the number of options that
are expected to become exercisable. At each reporting date, the entity revises its estimate of the number of
options that are expected to become exercisable.
The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which
may also not necessarily be the actual outcome.
200,000 options were exercised during the year ended 30 June 2018.
The weighted average remaining contractual life of share options outstanding at the end of the period was
32 months (2017:11 months).

Fair value of options granted
11,700,000 were granted in the 2018 financial year (2017: zero). The weighted average fair value of options
granted during the year was $0.017 per option.
Weighted average share price on the date of exercise of options during 2018 was 2c (2017: n/a).
The options granted during the year were calculated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model applying
the following inputs:

Weighted average
exercise price:

$0.0
4

$0.05

$0.07

$0.09

Weighted average life of
the option:

3
year
s

3 years

3 years

3 years

Expected share price
volatility:

145
%

136%

136%

136%

Risk-free interest rate:

2.2%

2.2%

2.2%

2.2%

Dividend Yield:

-

-

-

-

-
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Set out below is a summary of options under the plan:

Grant Date

Vesting
Date

Expiry
date

Vested and
Balance at
Granted
Forfeited Expired Balance at exercisable
Exercise start of the during the during the during the end of the at end of the
price
year
year
year
year
year
year
Cents

Number

Number

Number

Number

Number

Number

Consolidated and company – 2018
10 Nov 14

10 Nov 14 9 Nov 17

3.0

200,000

-

-

10 Nov 14

10 Nov 15 9 Nov 18

6.0

200,000

200,000

200,000

10 Nov 14

10 Nov 16 9 Nov 19

10.0

200,000

200,000

200,000

21 Jan 16

21 Jan 16 31 Jan 19

3.0

100,000

100,000

100,000

21 Jan 16

21 Jan 17 31Jan 20

6.0

100,000

100,000

100,000

21 Jan 16

21 Jan 18 31 Jan 21

10.0

100,000

100,000

100,000

29 Apr 16

29 Apr 16 30 Apr 18

2.0

200,000

200,000

-

-

29 Apr 16

29 Apr 17 30 Apr 19

5.0

200,000

200,000

-

-

29 Apr 16

29 Apr 18 30 Apr 20

8.0

200,000

200,000

-

-

10 Nov 17

10 Nov 17 09 Nov 20

4.0

-

5,250,000

5,250,000

5,250,000

16 Mar 18

16 Mar 18 16 Mar 21

5.0

-

1,050,000

1,050,000

1,050,000

16 Mar 18

16 Mar 19 16 Mar 22

7.0

-

300,000

300,000

-

16 Mar 18

16 Mar 20 16 Mar 23

9.0

-

300,000

300,000

-

7,600,000

7,000,000

TOTAL

1,500,000
Weighted average exercise
price of options

5.8c

200,000

6,900,000
3c

600,000

200,000

5c

3c

4.4c

4.2c

10 Nov 14

Consolidated and company – 2017
10 Nov 14 9 Nov 17
3.0
300,000

100,000

200,000

200,000

10 Nov 14

10 Nov 15 9 Nov 18

6.0

300,000

100,000

200,000

200,000

10 Nov 14

10 Nov 16 9 Nov 19

10.0

300,000

100,000

200,000

200,000

21 Jan 16

21 Jan 16 31 Jan 19

3.0

100,000

100,000

100,000

21 Jan 16

21 Jan 17 31Jan 20

6.0

100,000

100,000

100,000

21 Jan 16

21 Jan 18 31 Jan 21

10.0

100,000

100,000

29 Apr 16

29 Apr 16 30 Apr 18

2.0

200,000

200,000

200,000

29 Apr 16

29 Apr 17 30 Apr 19

5.0

200,000

200,000

200,000

29 Apr 16

29 Apr 18 30 Apr 20

8.0

200,000

200,000

TOTAL
Weighted average exercise price of
options at end of the year

1,800,000

-

300,000

-

1,500,000

1,200,000

5.9c

-

6.3c

-

5.8c

5.1c
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(continued)

Structure
Note 15 Parent entity information
Parent

Statement of Financial Position
Current assets

2018

2017

$

$

353,226

3,203,549

17,452,685

16,362,901

Current liabilities

(216,817)

(437,238)

Non-Current Liabilities

(390,826)

-

Total liabilities

(607,643)

(437,238)

28,174,242

26,695,249

Prepaid share reserve

303,239

-

Equity settled employee benefits reserve

594,444

404,149

(12,226,883)

(11,173,735)

16,845,042

15,925,663

Profit or loss for the year

(1,021,019)

(879,328)

Total comprehensive income

(1,021,019)

(879,328)

Total assets

Shareholders’ equity
Issued capital

Retained earnings
Total shareholders’ equity

The financial information for the parent entity, PepinNini Lithium Limited, disclosed above have been
prepared on the same basis as the consolidated financial statements, except as set out below:
(i)

Investments in subsidiaries
Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost in the financial statements of PepinNini Lithium
Limited.

(ii)

Tax consolidation legislation
Details of tax consolidation treatment are disclosed in note 10.

The Company has not provided any financial guarantees as at 30 June 2018 and has no contingent liabilities
as at 30 June 2018.

PepinNini Lithium Limited
Notes to the financial statements
30 June 2018
(continued)
Note 16 Principles of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of the Company
and the results of all subsidiaries as at 30 June 2018 and the results for all subsidiaries for the year then
ended.
Subsidiaries are all those entities (including special purpose entities) over which the Group has control.
Control is achieved when the group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee.
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.
Intercompany transactions and balances between Group companies are eliminated in full. Accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted
by the Group.
There are no significant restrictions on the ability of PepinNini Lithium Ltd to access or use assets, and settle
liabilities of any of the controlled entities.
Note 17 Investments in subsidiaries

Name of subsidiary

Country of
incorporation

NiCul Minerals Ltd^*

Ownership interest

Australia

2018
%
100

2017
%
100

PepinNini Resources
Curnamona Pty Ltd*

Australia

100

100

PepinNini Robinson Range
Pty Ltd*

Australia

100

100

PepinNini Lithium
International Pty Ltd*

Australia

100

100

PepinNini QLD Pty Ltd*

Australia

100

100

Argentine Republic

100

100

PepinNini Sociedad Anonima

The proportion of ownership interest is equal to the proportion of voting power held.
* These companies are members of the tax-consolidated group. PepinNini Lithium Limited is the head entity
within the tax consolidated group.
^Name change 26 July 2011 from PepinNini Resources Pty Ltd

PepinNini Lithium Limited
Notes to the financial statements
30 June 2018
(continued)

Unrecognised items and additional information
Note 18 Related party transactions
(a)

Subsidiaries

Interests in subsidiaries are set out in note 17.
(b)

Key management personnel

Disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out in note 8.
(c)

Transactions with related parties

As at 30 June 2018, George Holland Pty Ltd, a company of which Rebecca Holland-Kennedy is a Director
held 10,986,475 shares, (2017: 10,986,475).
As at 30 June 2018 Kalinda Outlook Pty Ltd, a company of which Rebecca Holland-Kennedy is a Director
held 83,000,000 shares (2017: 83,000,000)
(d)

Terms and conditions

Transactions relating to dividends and subscriptions for new ordinary shares were on the same terms and
conditions that applied to other shareholders.
Outstanding balances are unsecured and are repayable in cash.
Note 19 Financial risk management
The Group’s overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks
to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the Group. The Group uses different
methods to measure different types of risk to which it is exposed. These methods include sensitivity analysis
of interest rate, foreign exchange and other price risks.
Risk management is carried out by the board of Directors who provide principles for overall risk
management.
The Group holds the following financial instruments:
Consolidated
Note

2018

2017

$

$

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents

3

352,079

3,011,200

Loans and Receivables - Trade and other receivables

9

355,697

288,403

707,776

3,299,603

(472,651)

(581,752)

(390,826)

-

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables
Convertible note

*

(863,477)
(581,752)
*Trade and other payables amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to
the end of the financial year which are unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30
days of recognition. Trade and other payables are presented as current liabilities unless payment is not due
within 12 months from the reporting date. They are recognised initially at their fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Most of the Group’s financial liabilities are due to be settled within 6 months. Consequently, no discounting
has been applied for the time value of money, and the total contractual cash flows are equal to the carrying
amounts of trade and other payables.
The convertible note is non-current but the value is fixed and expected to be converted so no adjustment has
been made to the carrying value.

PepinNini Lithium Limited
Notes to the financial statements
30 June 2018
(continued)
(a)

Market risk
(i) Commodity price risk
Changes in commodity prices may impact the Group's projected cash flows in future years and may
impact the assessment of the carrying value of its assets. However, given the Company is not yet in
production, changes in commodity prices do not currently impact the Group's profit or loss or its cash
flows.
(ii) Interest rate risk
Exposure arises from assets bearing variable interest rates. With consideration of the cash balance at
30 June 2018 and the Group’s intention to hold fixed rate assets to maturity, the impact of interest rate
risk is considered to be immaterial.
(iii) Currency risk
The group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from fluctuations in
the United States Dollar and Argentine Peso.
Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions and recognised financial assets and
liabilities denominated in a currency that is not the entity's functional currency. The risk is measured
using sensitivity analysis and cash flow forecasting.
As at 30 June 2018 and 2017, the Group had immaterial exposure to foreign currency. As a result
financial assets and financial liabilities outstanding as at balance date are not sensitive to changes in
exchange rates.

(b)

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial asset fails to
meet its contractual obligations and arises principally from the Group’s receivables, cash and cash
equivalents and bank term deposits. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period
is the carrying amount of each class of cash and cash equivalents (note 3) and trade and other receivables
(note 9).The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was $707,776 (2017:
$3,299,603).
(c) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The
Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient
liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring
unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation. The Group manages liquidity risk by
maintaining adequate reserves and continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows. Typically, the
Group ensures that it has sufficient cash on demand to meet expected operational expenses for a period of
60 days, including the servicing of financial obligations. This excludes the potential impact of extreme
circumstances that cannot reasonably be predicted, such as natural disasters.
< 1year
$

Consolidated
>1-<5 years
Total
$
$

Financial Liabilities
Trade and Other Payables
Convertible Note

472,651
-

390,826

472,651
390,826

472,651

390,826

863,477

(d) Fair value estimation
The carrying value of trade receivables, less the impairment provision, and trade payables are assumed to
approximate their fair values due to their short term nature. The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure
purposes is estimated by discounting the future contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate that
is available to the Group for similar financial instruments. The Directors consider that the carrying amount of
financial assets and liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the financial statements approximates their fair
values.

PepinNini Lithium Limited
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(continued)
Note 20 Commitments for expenditure
Consolidated
2018
$
Capital expenditure commitments
Granted exploration tenement statutory expenditure
commitments, payable:
Not longer than 1 year
Longer than 1 year and not longer than 5 years
Longer than 5 years

2017
$

31,685
900,000

683,325
200,000

931,685

883,325

38,346
8,333

39,744
13,344

46,679

53,088

Operating lease commitments:
Not longer than 1 year
Longer than 1 year and not longer than 5 years
Longer than 5 years

Note 21 Subsequent events
In July 2018 the company completed an Entitlements Issue, 16,974,509 shares were issued at a purchase
price of 2.1c per share.
In July 2018 a share placement took place, the company placed 24.6 Million ordinary shares at a price of
1.5c per share. $368,800 was raised from the placement before costs.
As at the date of issuing this report, the convertible securities held by Bergan Global Opportunity Fund II
have been reduced from the balance held at year-end of 426,000 securities to the current balance of 226,000
securities. These have been converted into Ordinary shares in three tranches of 50,000, 50,000 and
100,000 securities. A total of 17,243,858 ordinary shares were issued.
In September 2018, the company received a firm commitment for a subscription of 14.5m ordinary shares at
a price of 0.8c per share. $116,000 will be raised from the placement before costs.
There has been no other matter or circumstance that has arisen since 30 June 2018 that has significantly
affected, or may significantly affect:
a)

the Group’s operations in future financial years, or

b)

the results of those operations in future financial years, or

c)

the Group’s state of affairs in future financial years.

Note 22 Remuneration of auditors
Consolidated

Auditor of the parent entity
BDO Audit (SA) Pty Ltd audit and review of the
financial reports
BDO Audit (SA) Pty Ltd non-assurance services

2018
$

2017
$

32,800
-

30,800
-

32,800

30,800
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Directors’ declaration
In accordance with a resolution of the Directors of PepinNini Lithium Limited, I state that:
1.

In the opinion of the Directors:
a. The financial statements and notes of PepinNini Lithium Limited for the financial year ended 30 June
2018 are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:
i. Giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2018 and of its
performance for the year ended on that date; and
ii. Complying with Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the
Corporations Regulations 2001
b. The financial statements and notes also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as
disclosed in Note 2
c. There are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they
become due and payable

2.

This declaration has been made after receiving the declarations required to be made to the Directors in
accordance with section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 for the financial year ended 30 June 2018.

On behalf of the Board

Rebecca Holland-Kennedy
Managing Director
Adelaide, 13 September 2018

Tel: +61 8 7324 6000
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF PEPINNINI LITHIUM LIMITED
Report on the Audit of the Financial Report
Opinion
We have audited the financial report of PepinNini Lithium Limited (the Company) and its
subsidiaries (the Group), which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at
30 June 2018, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for
the year then ended, and notes to the financial report, including a summary of significant
accounting policies and the directors’ declaration.
In our opinion the accompanying financial report of the Group, is in accordance with the
Corporations Act 2001, including:
(i)

Giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2018 and of its
financial performance for the year ended on that date; and

(ii)

Complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
Financial Report section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical
Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are
relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which has
been given to the directors of the Company, would be in the same terms if given to the directors
as at the time of this auditor’s report.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.
Material uncertainty related to going concern
We draw attention to Note 2(iv) in the financial report which describes the events and/or
conditions which give rise to the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant
doubt about the group’s ability to continue as a going concern and therefore the group may be
unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business. Our
opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

BDO Audit (SA) Pty Ltd ABN 33 161 379 086 is a member of a national association of independent entities which are all members of BDO Australia Ltd ABN 77
050 110 275, an Australian company limited by guarantee. BDO Audit (SA) Pty Ltd and BDO Australia Ltd are members of BDO Inte rnational Ltd, a UK
company limited by guarantee, and form part of the international BDO network of independent member firms. Liability limited by a scheme approved under
Professional Standards Legislation, other than for the acts or omissions of financial services licensees.

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most
significance in our audit of the financial report of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. In addition to the
matter described in the Material uncertainty related to going concern section, we have
determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our
report.
Recoverability of exploration and evaluation assets
Key audit matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

As at 30 June 2018 the carrying value of Exploration and
Evaluation Assets was $17,382,328 as disclosed in note
4.

Our procedures included, but were not limited to:

The recoverability of the exploration and evaluation
assets was considered a key audit matter due to:
 The carrying value of exploration and evaluation
expenditure represents a significant asset of the
Group, we considered it necessary to assess whether
the facts and circumstances existed to suggest that
the carrying amount of this asset may exceed the
recoverable amount; and
 Determining whether impairment indicators exist
involves significant judgement by management.

 Obtaining a schedule of the areas of interest held
by the Group and assessing whether the right to
tenure of those areas of interest remain current
and in good standing at balance date;
 Ensuring that the right to tenure of the areas of
interest was current through confirmation with
the relevant government departments or external
legal counsel;
 Reviewing budgets and assessing assumptions
made by the Group to ensure that substantive
expenditure on further exploration for and
evaluation of the mineral resources in the areas
of interest were planned
 Reviewing ASX announcements and minutes of
directors meetings to ensure that the Group had
not decided to discontinue activities in any of its
areas of interest; and
 Considering whether any facts or circumstances
existed to suggest impairment testing was
required;
We also assessed the adequacy of the related
disclosures in note 4 to the Financial Statements.

Other information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
information contained in the annual report for the year ended 30 June 2018, but does not
include the financial report and our auditor’s report thereon, which we obtained prior to the
date of this auditor’s report, and the Chairman’s Letter to Shareholders, 2018 Highlights,
Tenement Schedule and Financial and Corporate Strategy, which is expected to be made
available to us after that date.
Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and we do not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other
information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the financial report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the
date of this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
When we read the Chairman’s Letter to Shareholders, 2018 Highlights, Tenement Schedule and
Financial and Corporate Strategy, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein,
we are required to communicate the matter to the directors and will request that it is corrected.
If it is not corrected, we will seek to have the matter appropriately brought to the attention of
users for whom our report is prepared.
Responsibilities of the directors for the Financial Report
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that
gives a true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the
Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the
group to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate
the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Report
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole
is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board website (http://www.auasb.gov.au/Home.aspx) at:
http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar1.pdf
This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

Report on the Remuneration Report
Opinion on the Remuneration Report
We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 10 to 16 of the directors’ report for
the year ended 30 June 2018.
In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Pepinnini Lithium Limited, for the year ended 30
June 2018, complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.

Responsibilities
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the
Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted
in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.

BDO Audit (SA) Pty Ltd

Andrew Tickle
Director
Adelaide, 13 September 2018
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Additional securities exchange information
The shareholder information set out below was applicable as at 31 August 2018.
As at 31 August 2018 there were 586,490,904 fully paid ordinary shares PNN held by 3,170 individual shareholders.
All issued ordinary shares carry one vote per share.
There is no current on-market buy-back.
A.

Distribution of equity securities
Number of holders

B.

Number of shares

1 – 1,000
1,001 – 5,000
5,001 – 10,000
10,001 – 100,000
100,001 and over

280
419
279
1,495
697
3,170

113,929
1,237,905
2,261,137
66,163,822
516,714,111
586,490,904

Holding less than a marketable parcel

1,871

25,509,180

Substantial shareholders
Fully paid ordinary shares
Ordinary shareholders
Kalinda Outlook Pty Ltd
Querion Pty Ltd
Total

C.

Percentage
14.15%
6.42%
20.57%

Number
83,000,000
37,655,455
120,655,455

Twenty largest holders of quoted equity securities
Fully paid ordinary shares
Ordinary shareholders
Kalinda Outlook Pty Ltd
Querion Pty Ltd
Acuity Capital Investment
Mr Martin John Boyd
George Holland Pty Ltd
Ms Keng Yoke Lee
Mr James Theodore Lakes
HSBC Custody Nominees
Mrs Huanhao Lin
Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited
Protos Pty Ltd
JP Morgan Nominees Australia Limited
Eshan Pty Ltd
G Castello Pty Ltd
Sims Investments Pty Ltd
Mr Fouad Abdo
Mr Robert Rehl
Mrs Fabiola Bonari
Sinosteel Australia Pty Ltd
Mr Andrew Damian Baines
Total

Number
83,000,000
37,655,455
17,000,000
15,000,000
13,733,094
11,000,000
9,000,000
8,970,069
6,000,000
4,890,285
4,500,000
4,423,483
4,000,000
4,000,000
4,000,000
3,840,880
3,800,000
3,521,256
3,300,000
3,181,430
244,815,952

Percentage
14.15%
6.42%
2.90%
2.56%
2.34%
1.88%
1.53%
1.53%
1.02%
0.83%
0.77%
0.75%
0.68%
0.68%
0.68%
0.65%
0.65%
0.60%
0.56%
0.54%
41.72%
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D.

Top holders of unquoted securities
Employee unquoted options
Option Holder

Number

Percentage

Bergan

4,800,000

41.20%

Sarah Clifton-Brown

1,900,000

16.31%

Rebecca Holland-Kennedy

1,500,000

12.88%

Philip Clifford

1,500,000

12.88%

Robert Wei-Sun

750,000

6.44%

Simon Perez Alsina

450,000

3.86%

Marcela Casini

450,000

3.86%

Leanne Tuite

300,000

2.58%

11,650,000

100.00%

Total

